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Introduction

The history of Ukrainian architecture contains many
problematic areas. In particular, the genesis of the Or-
thodox Church architecture of the so-called Ukraini-
an Baroque style is not entirely clear. This style is an
architectural phenomenon unique to Ukraine, formed
around the turn of the seventeenth and the eighteenth
century, during the historical period of Hetman Maz-
epa’s governance. From the mid-fourteenth century,
most territory of Ukraine was a part of Grand Duchy
of Lithuania and then from the mid-sixteenth centu-
ry until the mid-seventeenth century, of the Polish-
Lithuanian Commonwealth, with some lands continu-
ing to be a part of this state until the late eighteenth cen-
tury. This period saw the adaptation of Ukrainian archi-
tecture to prevailing Central European styles: Gothic,
Renaissance and Baroque. In the mid-seventeenth
century, an autonomous Cossack Hetmanate emerged
in Central and Eastern Ukraine, which from the ear-

ly eighteenth century gradually fell under the protec-
torate of the Russian rulers, initiating the beginning
of the transmission of the European Baroque style to
Russian lands. The period of the independent Ukrainian
Hetmanate was the heyday of the economy and cul-
ture of Ukraine, a conscious statement of national idea
against a background of active political communica-
tions with neighboring countries.

It is interesting that along with the samples of
churches, directly inherited traditions of the Europe-
an Baroque, the majority of Orthodox churches erect-
ed in the Hetmanate Ukraine at that time, creatively
modified and interpreted the forms of the European
Baroque and often merged them with local vernacular
wooden church architecture traditions, which in them-
selves are an interesting architectural phenomenon, as
well as with some traces of Byzantine architecture that
had been prevalent in the area between the ninth and
the thirteenth centuries. This resulted in the construc-
tion of unique masonry churches which imitated the
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spatial composition of Ukrainian wooden churches
and were supplemented with elements of the Baroque
and Byzantine styles.

Historical outline

The term Ukrainian Baroque was introduced by G.
Pavlutsky at the beginning of the twentieth century.
It is sometimes used interchangeably with terms like
the Cossack Baroque or Mazepa’s Baroque, which in-
dicates the creators and users of such churches, main-
ly from the Ukrainian Cossack military aristocracy.
Since its theoretical definition, the phenomenon of the
Ukrainian Baroque continuously remains the point of
academic interest and vivid discussions that sometimes
argue for quite different points of view. This ranges
from a complete merging of it with the European Ba-
roque style to determining it as a unique “national ar-
chitectural style” [Buxton 1934; Ernst 1919; Yurchen-
ko 1957; Logvyn 1957; Pavlutsky 1905; Taranushenko
1976; Vechersky 1994].

Evidently, Ukrainian Baroque style churches are
not homogenous and, as was noted before, contain Ba-
roque, Byzantine and local wooden church architectur-
al traces to different degrees. Therefore, the most nu-
merous group of such churches is very closely related
to Ukrainian wooden church composition. The sim-
ilarity of the majority of Ukrainian Baroque masonry
churches to Ukrainian wooden churches was found
quite a long time ago. The general morphology of both
is characterized by such features as a complex compo-
sition, consisting of a connection solely at the ground
level, a tapering to the top stepped towers, and with
an entirely open interior. Similar to vernacular wood-
en churches, the churches of the Ukrainian Baroque
were erected as either single-topped or triple-topped
on a tri-partite layout, as well as either single-topped
or five-topped on a cruciform layout with an extended
central section (Fig. 1).

The term “top” in the tradition of Ukrainian archi-
tecture means a stepped, tower-like, tiered roofing of a
wooden church built using a horizontal log structural
system. In Ukrainian Baroque masonry, the tops imi-
tate the specific compositional structures of log towers:
the so-called “octagon-on-cube” and zalom [Bevz 2021;
Dyomin and Ivashko 2020]. The “octagon-on-cube” is
a form and structure of Ukrainian wooden churches’
tops created with an octagonal log bay posted over a
square log basement, creating a massive tower covered
with a log pyramid. The zalom (literally “bend”) is an-
other formal pattern of the church’s top—a stepped,
concentric narrowing of the log bay. Zaloms can be re-
peated several times finally forming high tiered tow-
er-like tops of Ukrainian wooden church [Shevtsova
2017,2018].

A pronounced verticality is inherent in the propor-
tions of such churches: these are tall, slender buildings
with octagonal, tiered tops and a noticeable inward
slope of the walls. Similar to wooden churches, their
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composition consists of relatively independent units
that are square or octagonal in plan, similar with log
bays. Interior-wise, these bays are interconnected in a
single structure with large openings. The inner space
of the churches is brightly illuminated by daylight
through the windows at the stepped tops. A certain
similarity with wooden churches is also observed in
the décor. Thus, there we can see an almost complete
formal (both in the interior and in the exterior) corre-
spondence of the composition of Ukrainian Baroque
masonry churches to local wooden churches. This cor-
respondence, however, due to the difference in materi-
al, could not be fully manifested in the construction of
the churches (Fig. 1).

From a review of existing academic sources, it seems
that Ukrainian Orthodox masonry churches initiated
the massive process of the inheritance of wooden build-
ing traditions quite suddenly in the mid-seventeenth
century This allegedly happened historically, based on
the socio-political need of the Ukrainian military aris-
tocracy (the Cossacks) to accentuate the national idea.
The fundamental role in the formation of the main
ideas of the Ukrainian Baroque style is reasonably at-
tributed to Hetman Mazepa, who was deliberately and
systematically engaged in the construction of new and
the repair of old religious buildings in Ukraine.

The facts surrounding the mass transfer of local
wooden church traditions to masonry ones in the late
seventeenth—eighteenth century, as well as the rea-
sons for this noted above, are quite justified. Howev-
er, such a process could not have happened so quickly
and easily if it had not been reliably tested in previous
Ukrainian architectural tradition. Thus, we set the task
of searching for earlier examples of the influence of
local wooden church on the composition of masonry
churches in Ukraine.

Research methods and materials

The influence of wooden construction on masonry
buildings is a well-known aspect of many architectural
styles background. Archaeological research revealed the
existence of mixed material defensive structures from
the Kyivan Rus’ period on the territory of Ukraine
(between the tenth and the thirteenth century). Be-
tween the fourteenth and the sixteenth century, this
tradition also could be noticed in residential, defensive
and religious architecture as well [Plamenytska 1994].
It was a time when Ukrainian lands were fragmented
and under difterent political and historical conditions.
The eastern and southern parts of contemporaneous
Ukraine were practically unpopulated because of con-
stant Crimean Khanate invasions, and the Byzantine
stylistic decayed while the cities and large monasteries
of Western and Northern Ukraine adopted Western
European Catholic architecture tradition of basilica
church composition. At the same time, provincial ar-
chitecture, including local Orthodox churches, most-
ly remained entirely wooden and only rarely pointed
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Fig. 1. Compositional features of Ukrainian Orthodox masonry and wooden churches of the Ukrainian Baroque period (A — masonry St.
Michael's Church,1720s, Polonki village, Chernigov region; B — masonry St. Catherine Church, 1715, Chernihiv; C — wooden Holy Virgin
Protection Church of 1706, rebuilt in 1775, Syniavka village, Chernihiv region); all photos by G. Shevtsova, plans A and B by M. Tsapenko

and G. Pavlutsky, plan C by S. Linda

Ryc. 1. Cechy kompozycyjne ukrainskich cerkwi murowano-drewnianych z okresu baroku ukrainskiego (A — murowany kosciot $w.
Michata, lata 20. XVIII w., Potonki, obwéd czernichowski; B— murowany kosciét $w. Katarzyny, 1715, Czernichéw; C — drewniana cerkiew
Opieki Matki Bozej, 1706 r., przebudowana w 1775 r., Syniawka, obwdd czernichowski); autorkg wszystkich zdje¢ jest G. Shevtsova,

rzutéw A i B: M. Tsapenko i G. Pavlutsky, rzutu C: S. Linda

with small masonry churches mainly erected by local
artisans. This churches were simple and diftered sig-
nificantly from Byzantine compositions, as well as
from Western European styles being closely connected
with local historical wooden craftsmanship, apparently
stemming from pre-Christian and Kyivan Rus building
traditions.

The gradual replacement of wooden provincial
church structures by masonry is not a rare proses for
Medieval Europe [Plat 1981]. Therefore, in the case of
Ukraine, the problem is that such examples are quite
seldom preserved and poorly investigated. This pa-
per presents an identification of preserved Ukrainian
mixed-material provincial churches with traces of the
influence of wooden architecture built between the fif-
teenth and the first half of the seventeenth century. The
area of the buildings’ hypothetical preservation is in the
territory of Western and North-Western Ukraine—the
lands of the continuous historical development of the
Ukrainian ethnos.

As a result, fifteen historical masonry and mixed-
material provincial churches with the traces of wood-
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en architecture were identified. These buildings do not
exhaust the total stock of such structures and efforts to
find them will continue. The churches identified were
presented on a map showing their distribution area in
the territory of modern Ukraine (Fig. 2).

It should be noted that the architecture of the Or-
thodox churches identified differs significantly from
the examples of the later Ukrainian Baroque period.
Therefore, it is conditional on older compositions of
earlier wooden prototype churches from between the
fourteenth and the sixteenth century (Fig. 3).

Such wooden churches preserved in a large num-
ber, which gives us full confidence in their architectur-
al characteristics. General three-dimensional basis of
their composition was the same as in the seventeenth
and the eighteenth century, namely they had tri-par-
tite (in seldom cases cruciform) layout and consisted
of rectangular log bays, the middle of which played the
role of a nave and was larger in mass (wider and higher)
than the others. Therefore, wooden churches from be-
tween the fifteenth and the early seventeenth century
are much more modest, smaller and lower than those
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1. Holly Trinity Church, Nyzhankovychi village, Starosambir district of Lviv region.

2. Ascension (sometimes appears as St. Nikola's) church, Chesnyky village,

Rohatynsky district of Ivano-Frankivsk region.

3. Church of the Nativity of the Virgin, Rosokhy village, Starosambir

district of Lviv region.

4. Holy Trinity Church, Zinkiv village of Khmelnytsky region.

5. Castle Church of the Resurrection, Vyshnivets town, Zbarazh district

of Ternopil region.

6. St. Nikola’s Church, Sokal town of Lviv Region

7. Church of the Assumption of the Virgin, Koshylivtsi village,

Zaleschyky district of Ternopil region.

8. Church of the Transfiguration, Zaluzhzhia village, Zbarazh district of Ternopil region.
9. St. Nikolas Church, Nahoriany village, Zalishchyky district of Ternopil region.

10. Church of the Annunciation, Gorodok town, Lviv region,

11. 8t. Nikolas Church, Okhlopiv village, Gorokhiv district of Volyn region.

12. St. George’s Church, Kasperivtsi village, Zalishchyky district of Ternopil region.

13. St. Michael’s Church, Novyi Kropyvnyk village, Drohobych district of Lviv region.
14, Trinity church, Shchyrets town, Pustomyty district, Lviv region

15. Assumption Church, Nyzkynychi village, Volodymyr-Volynsky district of Volyn region

Fig. 2. Surveyed historical mixed-material fortified Orthodox churches of Ukraine; by S. Linda

Ryc. 2. Zinwentaryzowane obronne murowano-drewniane cerkwie w Ukrainie; opr. S. Linda

of the late seventeenth and eighteenth centuries They
usually have low, tiered, tower-like log tops over the
central bay, opened in the interior and lightened with
windows. There are also tri-partite layout churches
with three log tops over all bays or, alternatively, as a
variation—with two log tops over the central and the
altar bays (over time, the altar bay gained a polygonal
faceted shape). A rather characteristic feature of archaic
wooden churches is the presence of an additional en-
trance from the south of the narthex.

At the empirical level, in situ methods (photograph-
ic documentation, visual inspection, sketch measure-
ments) were used. Primary information was collect-
ed with analysis and systematization of the literature
[Godovanyuk 2004; Logvyn 1957; Plamenytska 2001].
Most of the churches surveyed were previously briefly
described there. However, only as ordinary examples of
their time and sometimes with a superficial statement
of the presence of some features of wooden architec-
ture. Data from regional, village and church archives,
studies by local historians, historical materials from lo-
cal parishes [Patriarch Dymytrii 1998; Slobodyan 1998,
2004; Svitlenko 2010], interviews with church priests
and senior local residents were also used.

This study also explored the possibility of study-
ing destroyed churches. In particular, rare materials
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about the Holy Trinity Church from the sixteenth cen-
tury, destroyed in the 1930’s in the village of Zinkiv,
Khmelnytsky region, were found. In the beginning of
the twentieth century, it was investigated by G. Pavlutsky
who preserved its drawings.

The analysis of most of the surveyed churches
was significantly hampered by damage and multiple
alterations that led to inauthenticity. Certain facts re-
garding the nature of probable remodeling projects
and the original shape of the churches were estab-
lished based on reports of recent pre-restoration re-
search [Shamraieva, Yurchenko 1996] and hypothet-
ical reconstructions [Dyba 2005]. Some information
was obtained via the visual survey of the vaults and
attic spaces of the buildings. There were, unfortu-
nately, some gaps in the information, especially on
determining the period of the construction of wood-
en tops.

The information and findings were systematized
for each church according to the following criteria:
layout and compositional features; temporal changes
of the three-dimensional structure due to destruction,
reconstruction and repair. The last aspect includes in-
formation about the authentic and modern character of
the vaulting and tops of the building as well as chang-
es in the ratio of its masonry and wooden elements.

Wiadomosci Konserwatorskie ¢ Journal of Heritage Conservation « 76/2023



Fig. 3. Pre-Baroque compositional features of Ukrainian wooden churches (A — Pentecost Church from 1502, Potelych village, Lviv region,
UNESCO World Heritage Site; B — St. Dymytrii Church, 1562, Gishyn village, Volyn region); all photos by G.Shevtsova, all figures by S. Linda
Ryc. 3. Przedbarokowe cechy kompozycyjne drewnianych cerkwi ukrainskich (A — koSciét pw. Zestania Ducha Swietego z 1502 r., Po-
telicz, obwod Iwowski, wpisany na liste Swiatowego Dziedzictwa UNESCO; B — kosciét $w. Dymitra, 15662, Giszyn, obwdd wotynski);
autorkg wszystkich zdjec jest G. Shevtsova, wszystkich rysunkéw: S. Linda

The results of the analysis were summarized in a table,
where the schemes of spatial structure of the churches
and their chronological changes were shown in a con-
ditional graphical form. Comparative analysis of the
materials of the table became the basis for determining
the stages of transition of wooden vernacular churches
into the masonry religious architecture of Ukraine and
formulating conclusions.

Investigation of the churches

The mixed material provincial churches from between
the fifteenth and the seventeenth century discov-
ered during the research are spread over a wide area
of Khmelnytsky (at Zinkiv), Ternopil (at Vyshnivets,
Koshylivtsi, Zaluzhzhia, Zalishchyky and Kasperivtsi),
Ivano-Frankivsk (atChesnyky), Lviv(atNyzhankovychi,
Rosokhy, Sokal, Gorodok, Novyi Kropyvnyk and

Wiadomosci Konserwatorskie ¢ Journal of Heritage Conservation  76/2023

Shchyrets) and Volyn (at Okhlopiv, Nyzkynychi) re-
gions according to the modern administrative and ter-
ritorial division (Fig. 3). There were also some exam-
ples of similar Orthodox churches on Polish territory
that could be added to the future research of the theme.

Below we provide a detailed summary of eight most
significant churches that were found, in order from the
oldest to the most recent (Fig. 4).

Holy Trinity Church, Nyzhankovychi village, Staro-
sambir district of Lviv region

The first written mention of the church dates back
to 1473. The church, located in the center of the vil-
lage, is a masonry and wooden, three-topped build-
ing with a tri-partite layout with a bigger nave. The
narthex and nave are close to being square-shaped.
The apse is semicircular. The nave has semicircular
exedras (Fig. 4).

145



Trinity Church,- <
Nyzhankovychi* ¥

Ntwlty Church, :
Rosokhy ([’

2 am

Assumption Church,
Koshylivtsi

Nyzkynychi

Ascension Church,
Chesnyky

Trinity Chui'ch, " —
Zinkiv (by “

St. Nikolas Church, Okhlom"ﬁ’u’

ey & |

Fig. 4. Major fortified mixed-material churches from between the fifteenth and the seventeenth century; all photos by G. Shevtsova, all

figures by S. Linda, based on architectural survey

Ryc. 4. Gtéwne obronne koScioty murowano-drewniane z XV-XVII w.; autorkg wszystkich zdjec jest G. Shevtsova, wszystkich rysunkéw

S. Linda, na podstawie inwentaryzacji architektonicznej

It is obvious that the apse and other parts of the
church were erected in different times. The narthex
and nave are made of stone and the apse of brick, with
non-regular masonry. The walls of the apse and nave
are connected with a visible junction and have no ma-
sonry bond between them. The ornamentation of the
apse is also different. The cornice is decorated with
figured brackets that are absent in other parts of the
church. The windows of the apse are noticeably nar-
rower. At the place of the connection with the nave, the
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walls of the apse are slightly rounded inside (can only
be noticed at the level of the vaultings).

All this allows to think that the apse is older than
other parts of the church and was previously an inde-
pendent rotunda chapel. It can be dated, based on its
masonry features, to approximately the thirteenth or
fourteenth century and the extension of the chapel can
be dated back to the middle of the fifteenth century. A
rectangular sacristy was added to the north side of the
apse at the end of the twentieth century.

Wiadomosci Konserwatorskie « Journal of Heritage Conservation * 76/2023



The masonry vaults of the church are original. The
vaulting located above the nave is unique in shape. Itis a
barrel vault placed perpendicular to the longitudinal axis
of the building with four groin lunettes cutting the cor-
ners. Over the nave, there is a spacious two-tiered wood-
en pyramidal top with a cupola on an octagonal drum.
The narthex has side rooms and a wooden veranda with
an upper gallery from a later extension. The narthex is
covered with a barrel vault and above it there is a wooden,
two-tiered pyramidal top with a cupola on an octagonal
drum. The historical apse has a domed vault with the ves-
tiges of a roof lantern hidden under a three-sloped roof
with a wooden cupola on an octagonal drum.

The appearance of the wooden tops of the church
can be roughly dated to around the period between the
mid-sixteenth and the mid-seventeenth century, when,
according to historical documents, the village was at-
tacked and burned many times. The appearance of wood-
en cupolas, based on the peculiarities of their shape, can
be dated back to no earlier than early eighteenth century.

Ascension (sometimes appears as St. Nicholas’)

Church, Chesnyky village, Rohatyn district,
Ivano-Frankivsk region

The existence of the building was firstly documented
in 1578, it was characterized there as an “old church,”
thus it can be attributed not later than to the end of
fifteenth century.

The church is a masonry-wooden building (stone
walls thickness up to 1.5 m), defensive, with loop-
holes, surrounded by walls (preserved in fragments).
Buttresses were added to it in the nineteenth century.
The layout is tri-partite, with a wider and higher nave.
The nave and the narthex are rectangular, elongated in
width; the apse is pentagonal, separated from the nave
with an archaic masonry partition with two openings.
Each of the three layout units is covered with a high
masonry dome-shaped vault without a drum, with the
vestiges of blind roof lanterns at the zenith. The vaults
rests on wall arches with pendentives. Above the vault
of the nave there is a wooden-framed, four-sloped, two-
tiered pyramidal top. Above the narthex and the apse
there are three-sloped frame roofs (Fig. 4).

From the vestiges of roof lanterns over the dome-
shaped vaults, it can be assumed that the church did not
originally have a wooden top. Visitation documents from
1740 and 1760 describe the church in Chesnyky as very
old, covered with a new shingled roof with one wooden
top. According to this, it can be assumed that the fusion of
masonry and wooden structures occurred there not later
than at the beginning of the eighteenth century.

Church of the Nativity of the Virgin, Rosokhy village,
Starosambir district, Lviv region

According to the general architectural characteristics,
the church can be dated to between the end of fifteenth
and the beginning of the sixteenth century. It is ma-
sonry and wooden, defensive type building (its stone
walls have a thickness of up to 1.5 m), probably built
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on the site of a former wooden one, and is located on
a hill away from the village. The layout is tri-partite,
with a wider and higher nave. All three layout units are
square. The apse is separated from the nave with an old
masonry partition with one opening. The building is
covered with wooden pyramidal tops constructed us-
ing frames: two-tiered over the nave, single-tiered over
the narthex and the apse. The corners of the building
are reinforced with buttresses (Fig. 4).

The authentic ceiling was lost. Considering the
fortress nature of the building, it should be assumed
that it originally had masonry vaults. There are rea-
sons to consider that the church was covered with a
wooden roof during one of numerous remodeling
projects, therefore written sources document only the
last few of them, which took place in the nineteenth
century. From archival documents, it is clear that in
the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries the village of
Rosokhy was repeatedly subjected to hostile attacks,
which evidently could have led to the destruction of
the church. At present, the probable location of their
vestiges is impossible to investigate, as all three com-
positional units of the church are covered with solid
wooden ceilings.

Holy Trinity Church, Zinkiv village, Khmelnytsky
region

In 1930, Bolshevik authorities disassembled this church.
Professor G. Pavlutsky, who examined it at the very be-
ginning of the twentieth century, determined the year of
construction as 1521.

The church was a masonry and wooden building,
with walls made of stone and with defensive features.
It was built on the site of the former wooden one, with
thickness of the walls about 2.1 m, according to the
measurements by G. Pavlutsky. The buttresses were
added in the middle of the eighteenth century. The
composition of the church was tri-partite, with a wid-
er and higher square nave and a faceted narthex. The
apse was faceted from the outside and rounded from
the inside. Inside the nave there were two semicircular
exedras recessed in the thickness of the walls (Fig. 4).

It is obvious that the church was originally covered
with masonry vaults, which were preserved in the apse
(barrel type with lunettes, rounded from the east). The
similar vaults over the narthex were replaced in 1891
with a wooden flat ceiling. At the time of G. Pavlut-
sky’s research, the original vaulting of the nave was lost
and replaced by a spacious octagonal wooden top. The
pyramidal inner space of the top was opened to the in-
terior and lightened with windows.

Church of the Assumption of Virgin Mary, Koshylivtsi
village, Zalishchyky district, Ternopil region
The church was built in 1564, at the same time as the
bell tower (according to the inscription on the bell
tower), on the site of an old wooden church.

The church is of defensive masonry and wooden
type (stone walls with log towers over them), having
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Fig. 5. Other identified fortified mixed-material churches from the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, all photos by G. Shevtsova, all

figures by S. Linda based on building surveys

Ryc. 5. Inne zidentyfikowane cerkwie drewniano-murowane z XVI-XVII w.; autorkg wszystkich zdjec jest G. Shevitsova, wszystkich ry-

sunkéw S. Linda na podstawie inwentaryzacji obiektow

a tri-partite layout with a wider nave and surrounded
with defensive walls (fragmentary preserved). The en-
trance is from the southern part of the narthex. Judg-
ing from in situ investigation results, the church orig-
inally could have a masonry defensive tower above the
narthex and masonry vaults. The church was partially
destroyed (lost tower and vaults) by enemy attacks,
which, according to local archival documents on the
history of Koshylivtsi, took place in the sixteenth and
seventeenth century. Restored in the period between
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the late seventeenth and the early eighteenth century,
it was given three massive wooden log towers over
each unit of the layout. The spatial structure of the
wooden towers is typical to local wooden churches:
the square log bays turns due to pendentives into an
octagonal one covered with a pyramid (the so-called
octagon-on-cube type of the wooden church top).
The interior spaces of the apse and the narthex are
covered with flat wooden ceilings; the space above the
nave is opened to the full height of the log tower and

Wiadomosci Konserwatorskie « Journal of Heritage Conservation * 76/2023



illuminated with windows. The body of the church
is surrounded with a wide cornice, typical for local
wooden churches (so-called opasannia), which pro-
tects the walls from the rain (Fig. 4).

Church of the Transfiguration, Zaluzhzhia village,
Zbarazh district, Ternopil region

The church was built in 1600 (according to the inscrip-
tion on a stone slab above the entrance) on a high cape
above the town of Zbarazh by funds of Janusz Zbar-
aski, as a part of historical defensive monastery, in the
place of the old wooden church. From the eighteenth
century, the church became the seat of a parish.

The building is masonry and wooden, of a defen-
sive type, and has a tri-partite layout with a wider nave,
now three-topped. The entrance is from the southern
part of the narthex. The walls are up to 1.5 m thick.
The nave and the narthex are square; the apse is facet-
ed, separated from the nave by a stone arcade (Fig. 4).
The low-rise bell tower above the narthex was adapted
for defense and had two tiers of loopholes (walled up in
the nineteenth and the twentieth centuries).

All three units of the building retain the authentic
masonry vaults: barrel type with groin lunettes over the
nave and apse, and a groin vault over the narthex. In
the early eighteenth century, low wooden tops separat-
ed from the interior and over the vaults were erected:
above the nave and the apse there were octagonal ones
with cupolas and above the tower a quadrangular tiered
pyramid. In the early twentieth century, the tiered pyr-
amid above the tower was also replaced by an octagonal
top and the tops above the nave and the apse were also
raised due to wooden faceted drums with windows il-
luminating the attic above the vault.

St. Nicholas Church, Okhlopiv village, Gorokhiv
district, Volyn region

According to the inscription on the marble slab inside,
the church was built in 1639, on the site of a wooden
one on the funds of Pawel Hulewicz-Wojutyniski and
his wife Pelagia Obloczynska.

The building is three-topped and has a tri-partite
layout with a wider and higher nave. All units of the
layout are square and covered with masonry octago-
nal coved vaults (the same shape that can be seen in
wooden churches) installed directly on the walls of the
church. The interior space is fully open to the tops of
the building (Fig. 4).

In 1895, a bell tower was added to the western fa-
cade. There were no significant changes in the archi-
tecture of the temple. The building from the beginning
of existence is an exact embodiment of wooden church
composition in masonry.

Church of the Assumption of Virgin Mary (former
Intercession Church), Nyzkynychi village, Volodymyr-
-Volynsky district, Volyn region

It was built in 1643 by local craftsmen at the site of an old
wooden church as part of a small defensive monastery,
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founded by magnate Adam Kisiel on the site of a histor-
ical wooden fortification. Next to the church is a wood-
en, two-story belfry dated to the seventeenth century.

The church is masonry, with a square narthex, oth-
er parts of the cruciform plan are rounded, it has five
domed tops with roof lanterns (Fig. 4). Hemispheri-
cal domes rest on the walls. Wide arches support the
higher central dome that connects the aisles with the
central compositional unit of the interior. The facades
have three carved Renaissance portals. The tops were
originally covered with shingles, replaced at the end of
the nineteenth century with metal sheets.

The other seven identified churches can be briefly
seen in Figure 5.

Results and discussion

Almost all of the surveyed churches possess the fea-
tures of provincial defense architecture. The bulk of
the monuments (examples from between the fifteenth
and the early seventeenth century) were the defensive
centers of their villages, monastery fortresses or a part
of a small town’s defensive systems. The need for such
buildings stemmed from the historical conditions in
provincial Ukraine between the fourteenth and the
sixteenth century and up to the beginning of the seven-
teenth century. being constantly subjected to enemy at-
tacks. Local fortified churches combined religious and
defensive functions, serving as a shelter for all residents
should they need it.

Analytical information about the surveyed churches
has been summarized in Table 1.

The approximate dates of construction and re-
modeling of the examined churches have been pre-
sented, alongside schematic diagrams of their changes
over time (shape of roofing, features of interior space)
and showing the ratio of wooden and masonry parts
of the building. As an example, the hypothetical re-
construction of the Church of the Transfiguration in
Zaluzhzhia alongside with the evolution of its form
over time is shown in Figure 6. This church was cho-
sen for the modelling because of good preserved his-
torical information about, including photos from the
nineteenth century which show its previous form.

From Table 1 and Figure 6, it is possible to recon-
struct the general nature of the process of the transition
from wooden vernacular churches into the masonry
religious architecture of Ukraine. Namely, we can dis-
tinguish three stages of this transition, which partially
intersect in time.

Stage 1. Adaptation of the basic layout structure (be-
tween the fifteenth and the early seventeenth century).

The new masonry fortified churches were built
within existing fortification, often on the site of older
wooden churches. Artisans were usually local, familiar
with building with wood, and without much experience
in masonry (it is proven in historical documents as well
as by the simplified masonry technique and structural
features of such churches). All this, apparently, initiated
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Table 1. Process of the transition of Ukrainian wooden church composition into masonry, by G. Shevtsova and S. Linda

Tabela 1. Proces przej$cia kompozycji ukrainiskich cerkwi drewnianych w murowane; opr. G. Shevtsova i S. Linda

the beginning of the process of the masonry churches in-
heriting the basic characteristics of wooden prototypes: a
simple tri-partite composition with a dominant nave. As
a rule, such churches were modest buildings with thick
walls and primitive masonry vaults covered with frame
roofs (one exception is the Chesnyky church, which
has three primitive masonry domes). During numerous
enemy attacks, the churches burned and were partially
destroyed, often losing their upper parts.

Stage 2. Hybridization, formation of wooden mason-
ry mixed-material structures and the further transmis-
sion of wooden church compositional features (between
the early seventeenth and the early eighteenth century).

The historical situation in the region changed and
from the early seventeenth century, the need for defense
gradually lost significance. The partially destroyed pro-
vincial fortified churches were repaired in cheap local
ways, to be consistent with the local culture, and were
given tiered wooden frame or log tops with the high-
est central top over the nave. In the churches with pre-
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served masonry vaults, new wooden tops usually have
no connection with the interior space (Nyzhankovychi,
Chesnyky and Zaluzhzhia). In cases where the masonry
vaults had been lost, it became possible to merge the in-
ner space of the wooden tops with the interior of the ma-
sonry foundation (Koshylivtsi, Zinkiv). It was also possi-
ble to fill the space left by old vaults with solid wooden
ceilings with tiered tops erected above (Rosokhy).

Stage 3. Complete adaptation of the wooden com-
positional structure using masonry (from the mid-
seventeenth century).

New masonry churches completely imitating
the composition of a wooden church (Okhlopiv,
Nyzkynychi etc.) appeared. Also there were some cases
of wooden topped mix material archaic churches ob-
taining masonry tops (Gorodok, etc.)

Beside the conservative character of the vernac-
ular architectural tradition that led to the significant
retardation of morphological architectural forms de-
velopment in the Ukrainian hinterland, by the mid-
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Fig. 6. Hypothetical reconstruction of the Transfiguration Church in Zaluzhzhia, evolution

over time, by G. Shevtsova and S. Linda

Ryc. 6. Hipotetyczna rekonstrukcja kosciota Przemienienia Pariskiego w Zatuzu, zesta-
wienie chronologiczne zmian; opr. G. Shevtsova i S. Linda

seventeenth century, the architecture of provincial Or-
thodox churches there started to change, going far be-
yond of vernacular architecture.

Conclusion

The results of this study indicate the complex and
gradual process of local wooden church traditions
being transmitted to masonry Orthodox churches in
Ukraine. Its initiation is closely connected with pro-
vincial religious architecture of the defensive type. It
began no later than in the fifteenth century, when small
provincial fortified masonry churches started to appear.
They were built by local artisans mostly accustomed
to wooden construction, often to replace old wooden
churches. That is, the adaptation of the form of ver-
nacular architecture at that time was partial and con-
sisted of only the lower part of the building, inheriting
from local wooden churches forms typical of a log-bay
structure, tri-partite (rarely cruciform) layout with a
wider nave. No later than from the beginning of the
seventeenth century, damaged in numerous enemy
invasions, fires or other disasters, masonry churches
were given tiered wooden tops typical of local wooden
churches, which resulted in the formation of various
masonry and wooden transitional and hybrid forms.
Unfortunately, for some surveyed churches, there
still exists the problem of the exact dating of their
wooden tops. This survey can therefore be considered
as a preliminary overview of a hypothesis that opens
the way to further detailed study of each of the fifteen
churches identified, including the dendrochronolog-
ical analysis of their wooden parts. No drought, that
such remodeling first of all was a practical response

allowed local communities to repair their ruined
churches in most economical and available manner.
But as it often happens, this proses initiated the evo-
lution of the idea and provided something like an in-
termediate step to masonry churches, fully obtaining
the old composition of contemporary wooden ones
that took place no later than in the mid-seventeenth
century, about half a century before Hetman Maze-
pa’s times which are considered the very beginning of
Ukrainian Baroque style.

Thus, it can be concluded that the compositional
features of original masonry Orthodox churches of the
Ukrainian Baroque, which flourished in the Ukrain-
ian Hetmanate lands in the late seventeenth century,
stemmed from the previous long building experience
of Ukrainian provincial religious architecture.

Clearly, this process was also influenced by many
other factors. The sources of Ukrainian Baroque are
evidently multiple and complex. Different territories
of Ukraine were temporally and geographically locat-
ed within the borders of difterent states and therefore
had difterent influences. In particular, there were po-
litical and economic reasons behind Hetman Mazepa’s
governance consciously establishing national ideas as
well as a noticeable influence of the still-remembered
Byzantine traditions, in addition to the European Re-
naissance and Baroque influences inherited mostly via
Polish aristocracy deeply incorporated in Ukrainian
life. The creative personalities of both local and foreign
architects also have to be considered. The combination
of all these aspects, apparently, resulted in the period
between the seventeenth and the early eighteenth cen-
tury in the formation of a new original Ukrainian Ba-
roque style of religious architecture.
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Streszczenie

Niniejszy artykul pos§wigcony jest cickawemu zjawi-
sku w historii architektury ukrainskiej, ktoérym jest
wplyw form 1 konstrukcji cerkwi drewnianych na
ksztaltowanie si¢ pierwotnych murowanych $wia-
tyn prawoslawnych z przetomu XVII 1 XVIII wieku,
czyli na ksztaltowanie si¢ tzw. baroku ukraifiskiego.
W warunkach polowych zbadanych zostalo 15 zi-
dentyfikowanych zabytkowych murowano-drewnia-
nych cerkwi obronnych z okresu XV-XVII wieku,
znajdujacych si¢ w prowincjonalnych miejscowo-
Sciach na terytorium Ukrainy Zachodniej. Wszystkie
obiekty zostaly przeanalizowane pod katem specyfiki
zastosowanych rozwiazan przestrzennych 1 plani-
stycznych oraz wykorzystanych materialéw budow-
lanych, zostaly takze dokladniej okreSlone okresy
przebudowy i sporzadzone schematy ewolucji prze-
ksztalcen.
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Abstract

This paper discusses a phenomenon in the history of
Ukrainian architecture—the influence of wooden ver-
nacular church architecture on the formation of orig-
inal masonry Orthodox churches in late seventeenth
and eighteenth century of so called Ukrainian Baroque
style. A total of fifteen identified Ukrainian archaic ma-
sonry and wooden mixed-material provincial fortified
churches from between the fifteenth and the seven-
teenth century were identified, which demonstrate the
complexity and graduality of this process. The build-
ings were analyzed according to the specifics of their
spatial and planning decisions, as well as the building
material. This research demonstrates that the transmis-
sion of wooden architectural features into the masonry
religious building during the late seventeenth centu-
ry resulted from the long previous experience of local
wooden church compositional scheme adaptation by
provincial fortified masonry churches
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